IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

BANCORPSOUTH BANK

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2006-CA-01738

ALBERT JERMAINE DUCKETT AND WALTER WILLIAMS, JR.

APPELLEES

Appeal from the Chancery Court of Tishomingo County

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

PAT CALDWELL
Mississippi Bar Number
LES ALVIS
Mississippi Bar Number
RILEY, CALDWELL, CORK & ALVIS, P.A.
207 Court Street
Post Office Box 1836
Tupelo, Mississippi 38802-1836
(662) 842-8945

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

BANCORPSOUTH BANK

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2006-CA-01738

ALBERT JERMAINE DUCKETT AND WALTER WILLIAMS, JR.

APPELLEES

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

A. Introduction

Albert Jermaine Duckett and Walter Williams, Jr. (referred to herein at times as the "Plaintiffs") were the wards of a guardianship in the Chancery Court of Tishomingo County. After reaching majority, they sued the guardian (their father) Walter Williams, Sr. (referred to herein at times as the "Guardian"); Saint Paul Insurance Company (his bonding company); and BancorpSouth (the depository for guardianship funds). The Plaintiffs' action sought to recover \$267,233.00 of guardianship funds which the Guardian misappropriated. In addition to granting other relief to the Plaintiffs, the chancellor entered judgment against BancorpSouth in the amount of \$1,777,306.06 for mistakenly allowing the Guardian to have access to the funds beyond the limited access which the court had authorized.

B. Issues on Appeal

BancorpSouth raises the following issues in this appeal:

(1) The chancellor excluded or otherwise ignored evidence which was essential to understanding the case.

- (a) The chancellor excluded evidence of the Guardian's expenditures which benefitted the Plaintiffs and failed to credit BancorpSouth accordingly, thus allowing the Plaintiffs a multiple recovery.
- (b) The chancellor ignored the uncontradicted testimony of an expert witness on bank mergers and deposit operations.
- (2) The chancellor erred as a matter of law in treating BancorpSouth as a surety.
 - (a) The chancellor applied the wrong statute of limitations to BancorpSouth.
 - (b) The chancellor misconstrued Miss. Code Ann. § 93-13-17 as making BancorpSouth a *de facto* bonding company.
 - (c) Assuming, *arguendo*, that BancorpSouth was a surety, the chancellor departed from the law of the case and imposed against BancorpSouth a greater quantum of damages than may be imposed against a surety.
- (3) The chancellor erred in awarding punitive damages against BancorpSouth.
 - (a) The chancellor applied the wrong remedy for violation of a court order; the remedy is contempt, not imposition of punitive damages.
 - (b) The chancellor's award of punitive damages is contrary to Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-65 and Mississippi law.
 - (c) The chancellor's award of punitive damages is contrary to the due process protections of the federal constitution.
- (4) The chancellor erred in the manner of awarding interest.
 - (a) The chancellor should have awarded interest at the savings account contract rate.
 - (b) If the contract rate is ignored, there is no basis upon which to award compound interest.
- (5) The chancellor permitted the Guardian to testify at trial when the Guardian had invoked the Fifth Amendment and refused to testify during discovery.
 - (6) The chancellor erred in awarding attorney's fees against BancorpSouth.
 - (a) This was not a case for punitive damages, and no contract or statute otherwise authorized an award of attorney's fees.

(b) Even if an award of attorney's fees were appropriate, the Plaintiffs failed to offer sufficient evidence to establish the reasonableness of the fees.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Procedural Background

After reaching majority, the Plaintiffs sued the Guardian, Saint Paul Insurance Company and BancorpSouth for the loss of \$267,233.00 which the Guardian withdrew from BancorpSouth in violation of a court order which restricted his access to the funds to only \$200.00 per month. BancorpSouth cross claimed against the Guardian. Saint Paul cross claimed against the Guardian and BancorpSouth.

The Chancery Court of Tishomingo County granted summary judgment against BancorpSouth and against Saint Paul. The chancellor set a writ of inquiry for the amount of damages against BancorpSouth and entered judgment against Saint Paul in the amount of its bond, \$50,000.00. Following the writ of inquiry, the chancellor awarded actual damages against BancorpSouth in the amount of \$555,218.62 (being \$207,833.00 in principal and \$347,385.62 in interest)¹, plus attorney's fees in the amount of \$222,087.44 and punitive damages in the amount of \$1,000,000.00, for a total judgment of \$1,777,306.06.

BancorpSouth settled Saint Paul's cross-claim, and the Guardian mounted only a nominal defense against the parties' various claims against him. As against the Guardian, the

The chancellor arrived at the principal amount by taking the amount of the original deposit, \$267,233.00 and subtracting from it (a) \$9,400.00, being \$200.00 per month from September 1995, when the court authorized such monthly withdrawals, to July 1999 when the Guardian had exhausted the funds; and (b) the \$50,000.00 recovered by the Plaintiffs from Saint Paul. The chancellor arrived at the interest amount by accruing eight percent interest on the amount of the original deposit, \$267,233.00, compounded annually from the date of the original deposit, July 21, 1995 to May 15, 2006. (R. 635, R. E. 11.)

Plaintiffs received judgment in the amount of \$777,306.06, plus the transfer of title from the Guardian to the Plaintiffs to two houses purchased by the Guardian with guardianship funds withdrawn from BancorpSouth. As against the Guardian, Saint Paul received judgment for its attorney's fees in the amount of some \$25,000.00. As against the Guardian, BancorpSouth received a judgment essentially mirror-imaging the judgment against BancorpSouth in favor of the Plaintiffs. On September 8, 2006, the chancery court entered final judgment for all of the foregoing, from which BancorpSouth has taken this appeal.

B. Facts

Sharron Williams was shot and killed at the Tishomingo County Hospital by a county inmate on April 3, 1993. (R. 84.) She was an employee of the hospital. (R. 4-5.) She left two minor children, the Plaintiffs, Albert Jermaine Duckett and Walter Williams, Jr. (R. 84.) On June 7, 1993, the Guardian, Walter Williams, Sr., was appointed guardian of the Plaintiffs. The Guardian obtained a \$50,000.00 bond from the United States Fidelity & Guaranty Company (later the Saint Paul Insurance Company). (R. 74-77.) The Honorable Howard Gunn represented the Plaintiffs and brought four workers compensation and wrongful death actions on their behalf against various defendants. (R. 5, 84-85.)

The Plaintiffs' workers compensation lawsuits were settled by order of the chancery court dated March 10, 1995 for \$5,000.00. (R. 5.) The wrongful death actions were settled by decree of the chancery court also dated March 10, 1995, for a confidential amount. (R. 86-87.) The decree approving this settlement provided that the net proceeds were to be deposited in a federally-insured interest bearing account, "to be acknowledged by record of deposit" and not to be disbursed until an heirship proceeding was had to determine the heirs at law of Sharron Williams, and "which such persons, if any" are entitled to share in the proceeds and

in what percentages. The decree further provided that the Guardian would "remain accountable to and amenable to" the court for the proceeds pending adjudication of heirship and further order of the court. (Trial Exhibit 30, Ex. pp. 109-12, R. E. 78-81.)

On July 21, 1995, the Guardian deposited the amount of \$267,233.00 with Iuka Guaranty Bank into a variable rate savings account styled "Albert Jermaine Duckett and Walter J. Williams, Jr., Minors, Walter J. Williams, Guardian." (Trial Exhibit 37, Ex. p. 545, ¶IV.A.)² When the account was opened, an officer of Iuka Guaranty Bank signed two documents, (a) a Waiver of Process and Entry of Appearance of Depository and (b) a Receipt of Funds and Governing Court Order. Each of these documents was filed in the guardianship proceeding. (Trial Exhibits 1 and 2, Ex. pp. 8-13, R. E. 86-89.)

The Waiver of Process and Entry of Appearance of Depository provided that the deposit was made so that the Guardian could "qualify" under Miss. Code Ann. §§ 93-13-17 and 93-12-67, that no withdrawals could be made without an order of the court, and that the bank would provide the Guardian with a receipt for the deposit. (Trial Exhibit 1, Ex. pp. 8-10, R. E. 86-87.)

The Receipt of Funds and Governing Court Order (Trial Exhibit 2, Ex. p. 11, R. E. 89) provided in pertinent part:

The undersigned DEPOSITORY, acting by and through its duly authorized and undersigned officer, hereby acknowledges receipt of the following:

² In the record on appeal, the chancery clerk has numbered the pages of the Trial Exhibits sequentially from 1 to 662. The portion of the record containing the clerk's papers contains pages with the same numbers but with different content. Accordingly, for clarity, references in this brief to Trial Exhibits are by exhibit number and by page, denoted "Ex. p." References to the Appellant's Record Excerpts are denoted "R. E."

- 1. The sum of \$267,233.00 deposited in account number 01-219967-10 styled Albert Jermaine Duckett and Walter J. Williams, Jr., Minors, Walter J. Williams, Guardian, which is fully insured up to \$100,000.00 by FDIC Insurance.
- 2. A certified true copy of the Order of the Chancery Court of Tishomingo County in this matter dated the 10th day of March, 1995, which has the effect of authorizing such a deposit and restricting disbursement and withdrawal of said funds and any interest thereon, except as specifically set forth in said order, until a subsequent order specifically approves a disbursement or withdrawal.

Consistent with the method by which Iuka Guaranty Bank addressed court-restricted accounts, when the guardianship savings account was opened, a message was placed on the bank's computer system which caused the following text to appear on a teller's computer screen whenever a transaction was attempted on the account: "CAUTION - WITHERAWAL [sic] - COURT ORDER ONLY". (Trial Exhibit 32, Ex. p. 251.) This message feature of the computer system was referred to by Iuka Guaranty Bank employees as the "green worm" because of its eye-catching and attention-grabbing nature, with the text appearing as a reverse image in green, standing out from the rest of the text on the screen. (Trial Exhibit 31, Ex. pp. 230-31.)

Importantly, on September 7, 1995, a subsequent order was entered in the guardianship, relaxing the "no withdrawals" prior order, and allowing the Guardian to withdraw from Iuka Guaranty Bank the amount of \$100.00 per month per Plaintiff (being a total of \$200.00 per month). (R. 64.)

The original deposit of \$267,233.00 was deposited into a savings account bearing interest at a variable rate. (Trial Exhibit 14, Ex. pp. 39-41, R. E. 90-92 (account agreement); Trial Exhibit 34, Ex. pp. 537-39, R. E. 95-97 (showing the various rates); Trial Exhibit 37, Ex. pp. 545, ¶ IV.A.) The parties stipulated at trial that but for the Guardian's malfeasance, if the

original deposit had remained on deposit at such variable savings interest rate (which ranged over time from 0.75 percent to three percent), and allowing only for the authorized disbursements of \$100.00 per month per Plaintiff, then on plaintiff Albert Jermaine Duckett's twenty-first birthday, August 23, 2000, his half of the deposit would have been, with accrued interest at the contract rate, \$144,747.60, and on plaintiff Walter Williams, Jr.'s twenty-first birthday, July 4, 2002, his half of the deposit would have been, with accrued interest at the contract rate, \$146,038.66. (Trial Exhibit 34, Ex. p. 539, R. E. 97; Trial Exhibit 37, Ex. pp. 546-47, ¶ VII.)

In 1997 Iuka Guaranty Bank was acquired by and merged into BancorpSouth. As a part of the merger process, BancorpSouth needed to transfer the account information on the Iuka Guaranty Bank computer system over to the BancorpSouth computer system. This "system conversion" was performed in March of 1997. With regard to banking operations, the merger process with Iuka Guaranty Bank and BancorpSouth was an intricate undertaking consisting of many steps and tasks and involving many people. (Tr. 227:5-228:15; Trial Exhibit 16, Ex. pp. 46-55.) The computer system conversion process consisted of transferring particular information from the location or "field" where that information was contained in the Iuka Guaranty Bank computer system to the location or "field" where the same information was to be contained in the BancorpSouth computer system. (Tr .229:28-230:12.)

The initial step of this undertaking involved a process called "mapping" the various fields in the Iuka Guaranty Bank computer system so that the information contained in those particular "fields" could be automatically electronically transferred to the corresponding field in the BancorpSouth computer system. In a transfer from one bank computer system to another, it is ordinary to encounter a number of fields of information which will not

automatically transfer and which must be transferred by some alternative method. (Tr. 230:15 -231:8, 235:5-238:21, 281:19-282:18.) In this instance, for technical reasons, the "green worm" message field in the Iuka Guaranty Bank computer system could not be made to automatically transfer to BancorpSouth's computer system.³ (Tr. 379:21-380:9)

This was significant in this merger process because for accounts which had limitations on access, such as the court-restricted account at issue in this case, Iuka Guaranty Bank used the "green worm" message feature of its computer system to alert its employees. (Tr. 239:12-23.) BancorpSouth, on the other hand, used a "special instruction" combined with a "hold" for such accounts. (Tr. 239:24-240:8.) The "special instruction" feature of BancorpSouth's computer system was similar to the "green worm" in that it caused a message to appear on a teller's computer screen advising that the account had limited access. The additional "hold" feature of BancorpSouth's computer system took the safety measure a step further, creating a kind of electronic lock on the account which would not allow an employee to permit a transaction on the account. (Tr. 378:15-379:4.)

The fields that could not be automatically transferred from the Iuka Guaranty Bank system to the BancorpSouth system were listed on a report. The report included a plan for how the information in these fields would be transferred over to the BancorpSouth computer system. (Tr. 234:28-235:17; Trial Exhibit 18, Ex. pp. 56-58.)

In the case of the "green worm" message information, the only means by which the transfer could be accomplished was by printing out the text of the messages and then manually typing these messages into the BancorpSouth computer system. (Tr. 235:24-29; 379:21-

³ There were several other fields in the Iuka Guaranty Bank computer system which likewise could not be made to automatically transfer to BancorpSouth's computer system.

380:9.) Regrettably, by human error oversight — an express finding of fact by the chancellor (Tr. 541:26, R. E.36) — the employee who typed the "green worm" message information into the BancorpSouth computer system did not type in the message information on this one account, the guardianship savings account which is at issue in this case. After the computer data transfer process was finished, the effect of this omission was that when access to the account was attempted via the BancorpSouth system, no "special instruction" alert message appeared on a teller's computer screen advising that the account had limited access and no "hold" or electronic lock was in place. Absent any such special instruction or hold, it would appear to any teller using the BancorpSouth system that the depositor having signature authority on the account — in this case, the Guardian — was authorized to access the account without restriction.⁶ (Tr. 240:17-241:11, 380:10-382:17, 446:4-15.)

After the merger, BancorpSouth retained Iuka Guaranty Bank's physical file for this account. It contained the copy of the check in the amount of \$267,233.00 which opened the account, the copy of the first page of the Decree Granting Authority to Compromise and Settle Doubtful Claim for Personal Injury and Death and a copy of the order allowing the Guardian to withdraw \$100.00 per month per Plaintiff. (Tr. 447:9-448:9.) Retention of such papers is normal banking practice. (Trial Exhibit 31, Ex. pp. 256, 273, 334.)

With regard to any account, front line bank employees only know what is recorded in the bank's computer system. This use of modern technology in banking enables the bank's computer system to prompt a teller to stop or refuse to allow a transaction. Thereafter, if

⁶ It is common that bank accounts with the term "guardian" in the account name are not court-restricted guardian accounts. Most guardian accounts at BancorpSouth are not court-restricted guardian accounts. (Tr. 214:13-17, 446:4-15.)

prompted by the system to stop, the teller knows to not proceed and to alert a supervisor. It is therefore not normal banking practice for bank employees to consult the physical account file when transactions are attempted on an account having special instructions or a hold. (Tr. 377:17-379:4.)

Mr. Paul Carruba was accepted by the chancellor as an expert witness on banking operations. (Tr. 369:12-15.) Mr. Carruba testified that the Iuka Guaranty Bank approach of using a message feature was a sound means for handling restricted accounts, such as court-restricted guardianship accounts. (Tr. 375:14-376:6.) Mr. Carruba also testified that the BancorpSouth approach using both a special instruction and a hold was not only a sound means for handling accounts such as court-restricted guardianship accounts but actually was a better approach than using the message feature alone. (Tr. 376:22-379:4.) Mr. Carruba opined that the procedures of a "green worm" type message conformed to industry practice, and that the BancorpSouth process of combining a special instruction with a hold was a "best practice" for the industry. (Tr. 373:4-7.) Mr. Carruba also testified that the BancorpSouth's merger process complied with best industry practices and was state-of-the-art. (Tr. 372:28-373:7.)

Beginning on August 12, 1997, after the computer system changeover from Iuka Guaranty Bank to BancorpSouth, the Guardian realized that he was no longer limited to withdrawing \$100.00 per month per Plaintiff as authorized by the court. Instead, he discovered that he could withdraw any amount he wanted. This was because, due to BancorpSouth's human oversight computer error, no special instruction appeared on the teller's computer screen advising that the account had limited access, and no hold was in place, thus creating the appearance that the Guardian was able to access the account without restriction. (Tr. 543:4-17.) Taking advantage of this realization and violating not merely a court order, but his oath

and bond, during the period beginning August 12, 1997, and ending on July 12, 1999, the Guardian systematically withdrew from the guardianship account all of the guardianship funds of the Plaintiffs. (Trial Exhibit 37, Ex. p. 548, ¶ VIII.)

The Guardian filed a single annual accounting in this guardianship, in 1995, before the bank computer error occurred. (R. 23-24.) After the error occurred and the Guardian set out on his course of misappropriation of guardianship funds, he failed to file any further annual accountings or to otherwise account for his expenditures. (Tr. 350:29-351:9.)

During the entire time that the Iuka Guaranty Bank computer system disclosed the "green worm" account information, before it was inadvertently lost during the BancorpSouth computer system changeover process, not a single transaction was permitted on the account which was inconsistent with the court's orders. (Tr. 224:24-225:4.) The fact that after the computer system changeover the Guardian made transactions which were inconsistent with the court's orders was explained by the testimony of Paul Carruba that, on a day-to-day transactional basis, the only things that bank employees know about a particular account are those which are disclosed on the bank's computer system. (Tr. 424:18-425:6.) Ms. Cathy Talbot and Mr. Lee McAllister, each BancorpSouth employees, also testified that BancorpSouth regularly and frequently deals with court orders affecting deposit accounts and understands the need for appropriate attention and compliance, and that the accepted norm in banking is to accomplish such through utilization of technology such as special instructions and holds. (Tr. 255:4-256:14, 448:2-449:20.)

Thus, the act which left the key to open the door so that the Guardian could enter and cause the Plaintiffs' losses — the merger-related transfer of the account information from the Iuka Guaranty Bank computer system to the BancorpSouth computer system — was an isolated

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