IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2006-CA-01738

BANCORPSOUTH BANK APPELLANT

VS.

ALBERT JERMAINE DUCKETT WALTER WILLIAMS, JR APPELLEES

ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF TISHOMINGO COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEES' BRIEF

JOHN R. WHITE
ATTORNEY AT LAW
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

123 SOUTH FULTON STREET
IUKA, MISSISSIPPI 38852
Tele: (662) 423-3153

Fax: (662)423-2964

Attorney for Appellees, Albert Jermaine Duckett Walter Williams, Jr.

ORAL ARGUMENT IS REQUESTED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

BANCORPSOUTH BANK

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2006-CA-01738

ALBERT JERMAINE DUCKETT AND WALTER WILLIAMS, JR.

APPELLEES

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

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

II. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

BancorpSouth admittedly breached it's duty to protect the minors' money. However, BancorpSouth only admitted a duty after years of litigation. BancorpSouth's duty is ongoing in nature and continues even today. The trial court made specific findings that this breach of BancorpSouth's duty was proven to be grossly negligent by clear and convincing evidence. Therefore, the trial court properly awarded principle (\$207,833.00), interest (\$347,385.62), attorney's fees(\$222,087.44), and punitive damages (\$1 million). (R.E. 11) The findings of fact made by the learned Chancellor are well-reasoned, supported by the evidence and certainly within the discretion afforded a judge sitting as trier of fact. Accordingly, this Court should affirm. Appellees' brief responds to the arguments made by Appellant in the order presented in Appellant's Brief.

III. ARGUMENT

A. Ignored Evidence

1. Exclusion of evidence of expenditures

In BancorpSouth's eyes, the following expenditures "were reasonable":

- 1. \$16,903.45, for a new Pontiac Firebird spent by Guardian on Duckett;
- 2. \$7,000.00, in cash; and
- 3. \$86,000.00, for two houses on Pickwick Circle titled in Guardian's name individually, but with a Deed of Trust to BancorpSouth. (Appellant's Brief pp. 21-22).

Therefore, BancorpSouth should have been given "credit" for these expenditures. BancorpSouth

wants this Court to consider these expenditures now, in spite of the fact that no prior approval was obtained. Appellees' position is that no Chancellor would have approved these expenditures if presented with a petition for approval, much less given authority for them "after the fact."

The authority for any guardian expenditure comes from M.C.A. §93-13-38. That statute provides:

. .

It shall be the duty of the guardian of wards as defined by Section 1-3-58, Mississippi Code of 1972, to improve the estate committed to his charge, and to apply so much of the income, profit or body thereof as may be necessary for the comfortable maintenance and support of the ward and of his family, if he have any, *after obtaining an order of the court fixing the amount*. And such guardian may be authorized by the court or chancellor to purchase on behalf of and in the name of the ward with any funds of such ward's estate sufficient and appropriate property for a home for such ward or his family on five (5) days' notice to a member of said family, or the necessary funds may be borrowed and the property purchased given as security.

.... (emphasis added).

The statute contemplates the guardian obtaining prior approval before expenditures being made. Specific facts have led Chancellors and appellate courts to allow post-expenditure approval for certain money spent on wards where the results otherwise would be inequitable. This is not such a case. BancorpSouth's reliance on *U.S.F.&G. v. Conservatorship of Melson*, 809 So.2d 647 (Miss 2002) and *Vinson v. Benson*, - - So2d- - , 2007 WL 1470509 (Miss.App.) in support of it's argument that expenditures noted above should have been ratified "after the fact" is completely misplaced. This Court reviewed the facts of *Melson* meticulously and clearly stated:

It is undisputed that no court order was obtained for disbursements made by Tolliver from Melson's conservatorship. The case law and statutory language clearly require that prior court approval be obtained before expenditure of capital. This was not done in the case at hand. USF&G notes that the special chancellor did not make a distinction as to whether all the expenditures were capital or some from the conservatorship income.

The facts are further undisputed that since at least February 17, 1989, Melson was

mentally competent. Melson also had a Massachusetts conservator in addition to Tolliver in Mississippi. The record reflects that Melson participated significantly in the management of her assets and often communicated directly with Tolliver as to transactions in her account. She also came back to Mississippi on a regular basis, during which she would confer with Tolliver concerning her business affairs. Tolliver testified that of the \$108,666.03 in challenged transactions, \$64,961.71 were payments *made directly to Melson at her express direction*. There was no testimony that these funds were wasted in any way or that they, in fact, do not this day still remain on deposit in Melson's Massachusetts bank account.

Another \$36,686.26 of funds were spent on Melson's behalf, most paid to third parties at her express direction, \$22,000 pursuant to the divorce decree, \$15,000 to her former husband and \$7,000 to her husband's divorce attorney. Id at 659, 660.

. . . .

Without extending this case beyond the facts at hand, in order to avoid creating an absurd and inequitable result in this specific case, we find that the special chancellor's award to Melson for \$108,66.03 should be reduced by the \$62,961.71 paid directly to Melson, and the \$22,000 paid to Melson's former husband and his divorce attorneys pursuant to the divorce decree. This reduction is solely for the purpose of preventing an unfair result and in no way is intended to weaken the protections afforded a ward under a conservatorship or beyond the specific situation at bar.

Id. at 661. (emphasis added)

These facts are clearly distinguishable from the case at bar. There was no direction by the wards for the spending of the wards' money, never was their disability of minority removed, and in *Melson*, U.S.F.&G. had made no representations that it would not let the guardianship funds be disbursed as BancorpSouth did in Trial Exhibits 1 and 2 (R.E. 86, 89). BancorpSouth seeks to weaken the protections afforded to minors in order to reduce it's admitted liability. This action in and of itself would create an inequitable result against the very wards the statutes were created to protect. The trial court is not required to approve spending minor's money on items it would not have approved if properly presented with a petition. Certainly, guarding a minor's money from waste is one of the Chancellor's highest duties and not approving of the expenditures after the fact falls within the trial court's discretion.

2. Ignored testimony of expert witness

BancorpSouth alleges, "Mr. Carruba's testimony was uncontradicted." (Appellant's Brief p. 25). BancorpSouth views the record and facts underlying it's hired gun's testimony as "uncontradicted". Other testimony already in the record disputed Carruba's testimony about "policy" and "awareness." Appellees took the 30(b)(6) deposition of BancorpSouth on February 25, 2005.

BancorpSouth employee, Kathy Milligan, gave the following testimony in the 30(b)(6) deposition which was admitted into evidence at trial:

- Q. Okay. All right. You talked about a little bit - I'm still on the policy. Is there a written policy that BancorpSouth had after March 1st, 1997, about the handling of different types of accounts?
- A. I think that's the question that John asked me, too.
- Q. Yeah.
- A. If there was a written policy, I am not aware of it.
- Q. Okay was there an informal policy?
- A. I am not aware. I'm sorry.
- Q. Okay. John asked you a lot of questions about these documents and about restrictions on withdrawal. And I think your answer was

²Interestingly, Carruba had previously worked for the law firm of Watkins, Ludlam who filed the Amicus Curiae brief on behalf of the Mississippi Bankers Association (Tr. 387:26-28; Ape. R.E. 43). Carruba was paid \$350 per hour for his testimony and previously had testified almost exclusively for the banking industry. (Tr. 364:23 - 365:26; 387:14-19; Ape. R.E. 41-43).

consistently that at any time after September of 1998 that Walter Williams, Sr., could have withdrawn funds from any of those accounts?

- A. I think that his question, as he went through them, was there any terminology on the document itself restricting any withdrawal. And my response was there is none.
- Q. And my question to you is why was there not any restrictions on withdrawal knowing that that was a guardianship account or guardianship accounts?
- A. Documents, Certificates of Deposit -
- Q. Uh-huh (yes).
- A. -- signature cards do not carry any restrictive information on the document. They use basically name, address, social security number, dollars, account number, those things. They don't carry restrictive information.
- Q. Well, what checks and balances did BancorpSouth have at the time Mr. Williams was withdrawing these funds to assure that they were not improperly withdrawn?

Mr. Alvis: I object to the form of the

question.

Mr. Cooke: You can still answer.

A. I don't know of any checks and balances. Those would have been handled somewhere outside the branch location.

(Trial Exhibit 31; Ape. R.E. 11-12)

Another BancorpSouth employee, Cathy Talbot, gave the following testimony during the same 30(b)(6) deposition:

Q. Okay. I wasn't going there yet, but are there policies, procedures in place at BancorpSouth, that you're aware of, between 1997 and 2000 that was - - that would restrict disbursement of guardianship funds with a court order?

A. I'm not aware of any written policy and I wasn't able to find any during researching this case.

Cathy Talbot (Trial Exhibit 32; Ape. R.E. 14)

In other words, there were no written policies or procedures on how to handle this situation known by the 30(b)(6) deponents representing BancorpSouth. All of this testimony occurred prior to the trial court's grant of summary judgment against BancorpSouth and while BancorpSouth was still maintaining it's position that it owed "no duty" to either the wards or the court. Further, BancorpSouth would have this Court believe, according to Carruba's testimony, that "They are very much aware of the incident that occurred" (Appellant's Brief p. 30) when the opposite is true.

Lee McAllister's trial testimony:

Q. All right. When did you first become aware of the situation that y'all did not follow the court order?

A. Y'all may need to help me. It was either late May or June. It was May. It was May because there was a scheduling of a June date. That was my first.

Q. And that's the first time you became aware that your bank had not followed the court order?

A. Yes, sir.

THE COURT: What year, sir? MR. LEE MCALLISTER: This year. (Tr. p. 200:17-26; Ape. R.E. 28)

In other words, the head of training and compliance for BancorpSouth had never heard that the bank had disbursed funds improperly and illegally more than a year after service of the lawsuit. Clearly, the bank was not "very much aware of the incident that occurred". Lee McAllister further testified as follows:

- Q. And you work for BancorpSouth?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. And in what capacity do you work for them?
- A. In work in an area I have three areas of responsibility; bank coordination, central deposit services, and training responsibility.
- Q. You are here as the corporate representative today?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. You understand that the policies and procedures of this bank that are contained in Exhibit 19 that you were on the committee on and helped write. Correct?
- A. I was a part of that. Yes, sir.
- Q. And each and every one of those three ladies that were produced in the 30(b)(6) deposition were trained and knew about that policy and procedure at the time they gave their deposition; did they not?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. And each and every one of them had been trained by the bank and had experience with the bank for over 20 years. Isn't that right?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. In that context of, you know, don't you, now that there were restrictions on this account at Iuka Guaranty Bank?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Were there not?

- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. And those restrictions were destroyed when it was converted?
- A. That special message was eliminated through human error. Yes, sir.
- O. Through human error?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. And by June of 2004, when I filed my complaint, at least by then the bank knew, did it not, that, hey, there is some restrictions - there were restrictions on this account and you, basically, knew what had happened, didn't you?
- A. Yes, sir. The bank would have known when you filed. Yes, sir.
- Q. You got a copy of the complaint and you understood - you probably had to reconstruct some files, but you understood, basically, what happened within a short period of time thereafter, a month, two, three months?
- A. I'm assuming that.
- Q. And, in fact, Exhibit 7 was recreated by your bank showing the history of these accounts by Cathy Talbot and others, Tina Cox?
- A. You have the exhibit. Yes, sir.
- Q. Yes, sir. So the bank pretty much knew by the time that was created sometime in July or August of last year what had happened to this money, didn't they, that the restrictions had been -
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. -- done away with and somebody had taken the money? Right?

- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Okay. And so in that context, with Tina Cox, Cathy Talbot, and Kathy Milligan, on February the 25th of '05, they knew as representatives of the bank what had happened with that money, didn't they?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. And they knew that there was a order restricting the release of those funds, didn't they?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. And they knew that this bank, that at least Iuka Guaranty Bank who is now BancorpSouth, had represented to the court that it wouldn't let that money out without a court order, didn't they?
- A. They had a copy of the court order. Yes, sir.
- Q. Yes, sir. Even under that context, even with that knowledge, they still said they had no obligation either to these minors or this court. Isn't that right?
- A. That's what's written in the deposition. And, again, I don't know what their thinking was. Was their thinking was, you know, that - which the Court has decided - does the Court decide when the guardian initiates this and doesn't follow the rules of the guardianship, are thinking in terms of that? You know, I just don't know from which they were thinking when they answered those questions. That's what I'm talking about the context of it.

(Tr. 214:25 - 217:12; Ape. R.E. 33-36)

Amazingly, with this "state of the art system" no one with any authority in BancorpSouth wanted to admit a mistake. Instead, intentional and/or grossly negligent misrepresentations were made to the wards, their attorney, and to the trial court in an effort to limit the bank's liability. Thereafter, once the court entered it's summary judgment, the bank and it's employees fell in line

with it's simple human error concept. Prior to that, bank policy (if it exists) trumped everything (including court orders). Representations by the bank stated in Trial Exhibits 1 and 2 and court orders were secondary to bank policy which was reiterated many times in the bank's 30(b)(6) depositions. The first time BancorpSouth admitted it did not follow the court order (a simple concept given the admitted facts) was Lee McAllister's testimony (Tr. 200:4-11; Ape. R.E. 28) on October 13, 2005.

BancorpSouth's attitude was bank policy overrides the court order and always has been.

Lee McAllister gave the following testimony at trial:

Q. And the question was: With regard to court orders and guardianship accounts, would the bank typically see a court order at the time the account was established? And the answer is?

A. Yes.

Q. And then the next question: And beyond the time of the establishment of the account, was the bank concerned about court orders or was that the guardian's responsibility? And the answer?

A. The answer says that would be the guardian's responsibility.

Q. Right. And it goes over into the next page. So when asked by her own lawyer, Kathy Milligan, speaking for the bank, she said she wasn't concerned about court orders after the establishment of the account, was she? Isn't that what she said?

A. That's what's written there. Yes, sir.

THE COURT: The objection will be overruled as stated here, to that question. Go ahead.

BY MR. WHITE:

Q. And this is the same individual who you say has

20 years' experience, is a operations coordinator for Iuka Guaranty Bank and knows your policies and procedures, doesn't she?

- A. Should, yes, sir.
- Q. And she's not concerned about court orders. Isn't that what she said?
- A. That's what is written there. Yes, sir.
- Q. Yes, sir. That's exactly what she said.

MR. WHITE: May I approach again, your Honor? THE COURT: Yes, sir.

BY MR. WHITE:

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